# STRICHARTZ INEQUALITY FOR ORTHONORMAL FUNCTIONS

## RUPERT L. FRANK, MATHIEU LEWIN, ELLIOTT H. LIEB, AND ROBERT SEIRINGER

ABSTRACT. We prove a Strichartz inequality for a system of orthonormal functions, with an optimal behavior of the constant in the limit of a large number of functions. The estimate generalizes the usual Strichartz inequality, in the same fashion as the Lieb-Thirring inequality generalizes the Sobolev inequality. As an application, we consider the Schrödinger equation in a time-dependent potential and we show the existence of the wave operator in Schatten spaces.

#### Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. An inequality for orthonormal functions and its dual	2
2.1. Strichartz inequality for orthonormal functions	2
2.2. Optimality of the Schatten exponent	4
2.3. Dual Strichartz inequality	4
2.4. The end point	6
3. Application: the Schrödinger wave operator for time-dependent	
potentials	7
4. Proofs	9
4.1. Proof of Theorems 1 and 2: the main inequality	9
4.2. Proof of Proposition 1: optimality of the Schatten exponent	12
4.3. Proof of Proposition 2: the end point	14
4.4. Proof of Theorem 3: the wave operator	16
References	18

## 1. INTRODUCTION

In quantum mechanics, a system of N independent fermions in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is described by a collection of N orthonormal functions  $u_1, ..., u_N$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . For this reason, functional inequalities involving a large number of orthonormal functions are very useful in the mathematical analysis of large quantum

Date: September 13, 2013.

<sup>© 2013</sup> by the authors. This paper may be reproduced, in its entirety, for noncommercial purposes. To appear in *Journal of the European Mathematical Society*.

systems. In [24, 25], Lieb and Thirring proved the first bound of this kind:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left( \sum_{j=1}^N |\nabla u_j(x)|^2 \right) \, dx \ge C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left( \sum_{j=1}^N |u_j(x)|^2 \right)^{1+\frac{2}{d}} dx \tag{1}$$

where C > 0 is independent of N and of the orthonormal functions  $u_j$ . The Lieb-Thirring inequality (1) generalizes the Gagliardo-Nirenberg-Sobolev inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla u(x)|^2 \, dx \ge C' \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u(x)|^{2 + \frac{4}{d}} \, dx \tag{2}$$

for an  $L^2$ -normalized function u and it is a fundamental tool for understanding the stability of matter [20, 22, 23]. The orthogonality between the functions  $u_j$  is essential here to get the bound (1). Using the Sobolev inequality (2) and the triangle inequality, we would only obtain a constant Cthat goes to 0 in the limit  $N \to \infty$ . For other inequalities for systems of orthonormal functions, see, for example, [21].

The purpose of this article is to prove a generalization of the well known Strichartz inequality for systems of orthonormal functions. We expect that our new inequality will play an important role in understanding dispersive effects in large or infinite quantum systems.

# 2. An inequality for orthonormal functions and its dual

2.1. Strichartz inequality for orthonormal functions. We recall that, in the case of the Schrödinger equation, the Strichartz inequality reads

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \left( e^{it\Delta} u \right)(x) \right|^{2q} dx \right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dt \leqslant C \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u(x)|^2 dx \right)^p \tag{3}$$

where  $p, q \ge 1$  satisfy  $(p, q, d) \ne (1, \infty, 2)$  and

$$\frac{2}{p} + \frac{d}{q} = d,\tag{4}$$

see [33, 36, 12, 13, 26, 18, 7, 34]. Here  $e^{it\Delta}u$  is the unique solution to the free Schrödinger equation  $i\dot{u}(t,x) = -\Delta u(t,x)$  such that u(0,x) = u(x). Our main result is the following

**Theorem 1** (Strichartz inequality for orthonormal functions). Assume that  $p, q, d \ge 1$  satisfy

$$1 < q \leqslant 1 + \frac{2}{d}$$
 and  $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{d}{q} = d$ .

For any (possibly infinite) system  $(u_j)$  of orthonormal functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and any coefficients  $(n_j) \subset \mathbb{C}$ , we have

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \sum_j n_j \left| \left( e^{it\Delta} u_j \right)(x) \right|^2 \right|^q dx \right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dt \leqslant C_{d,q}^p \left( \sum_j |n_j|^{\frac{2q}{q+1}} \right)^{\frac{p(q+1)}{2q}} \right|$$
(5)

where  $C_{d,q}$  is a universal constant which only depends on d and q.

**Remark 1.** For q = 1 and  $p = \infty$ , we have the bound

$$\sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \sum_j n_j \left| \left( e^{it\Delta} u_j \right)(x) \right|^2 \right| dx \right) \leqslant \sum_j |n_j| \tag{6}$$

which is an obvious consequence of the triangle inequality and of the fact that  $e^{it\Delta}$  is a unitary operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for any fixed  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Note that (6) does not use the orthogonality of the functions  $u_i$ .

The inequality (5) can be rewritten in a convenient form in terms of the operator

$$\gamma := \sum_{j} n_j |u_j\rangle \langle u_j|$$

which acts on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Here we have used Dirac's notation  $|u\rangle\langle v|$  for the rank-one operator  $f \mapsto \langle v, f \rangle u$ . Because the  $u_j$  form an orthonormal system, the  $n_j$  are precisely the eigenvalues of the operator  $\gamma$ . The evolved operator

$$\gamma(t) := e^{it\Delta} \gamma e^{-it\Delta} = \sum_j n_j |e^{it\Delta} u_j\rangle \langle e^{it\Delta} u_j|$$

solves (in a weak sense) the von-Neumann Schrödinger equation  $i\dot{\gamma}(t) = [-\Delta, \gamma(t)]$  with  $\gamma(0) = \gamma$ . Introducing the density  $\rho_{\gamma(t)} := \sum_j n_j |e^{it\Delta} u_j|^2$  we see that (5) can be reformulated as

$$\left\|\rho_{\gamma(t)}\right\|_{L^{p}_{t}(\mathbb{R}, L^{q}_{x}(\mathbb{R}^{d}))} \leqslant C_{d, q} \left\|\gamma\right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{\frac{2q}{q+1}}}$$
(7)

where

$$\|\gamma\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{\frac{2q}{q+1}}} := \left(\sum_{j} |n_j|^{\frac{2q}{q+1}}\right)^{\frac{q+1}{2q}}$$

is called the *Schatten norm* of the operator  $\gamma$  (see for instance [32] for elementary properties of Schatten spaces). The main advantage of the formulation (7) is that we do not need to specify the functions  $u_j$  and the complex numbers  $n_j$  anymore, they are now all included in the operator  $\gamma$ .

The coefficients  $n_j$  need not be real. In practice, the operator  $\gamma$  is the one particle density matrix of fermions and it must satisfy the Pauli principle  $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1$ , which means that  $0 \leq n_j \leq 1$  for all j. Of particular interest is the case of  $\gamma$  being a finite-rank orthogonal projection, that is, when N of the  $n_j$  are equal to 1 and the others vanish:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left( \sum_{j=1}^N \left| \left( e^{it\Delta} u_j \right)(x) \right|^2 \right)^q dx \right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dt \leqslant C_{d,q}^p N^{\frac{p(q+1)}{2q}}.$$
 (8)

The inequality (8) has a much better scaling with respect to the number N of functions, than the power  $N^p$  which can be obtained by using the usual Strichartz inequality (3) and the triangle inequality (as was stated before in [6], for example). The power is decreased to p(q+1)/(2q) < p due to the orthonormality condition.

2.2. Optimality of the Schatten exponent. Using a semi-classical argument based on coherent states, we can prove that the power p(q+1)/(2q) in (5) and in (8) is optimal, it cannot be decreased further. This is the content of the following

**Proposition 1** (Optimality of the Schatten exponent). Assume that  $d, p, q \ge 1$  satisfy 2/p + d/q = d. Then we have

$$\sup_{\gamma \in \mathfrak{S}^r} \frac{\left\| \rho_{e^{it\Delta}\gamma e^{-it\Delta}} \right\|_{L^p_t(\mathbb{R}, L^q_x(\mathbb{R}^d))}}{\|\gamma\|_{\mathfrak{S}^r}} = +\infty$$
(9)

for all  $r > \frac{2q}{q+1}$ .

We now present a heuristic computation explaining why Theorem 1 can be thought of as a semi-classical bound. In a certain sense this is also the idea behind the proof of Proposition 1 (given in Section 4.2 below).

We consider a system of fermions which, at time t = 0, occupy a cube of side length L. We assume that the electron density on the cube at time t = 0 is a constant  $\rho > 0$  (and zero outside this cube). Thus, the total number of particles is  $N \sim \rho L^d$ .

As |t| increases the electrons disperse and, after a certain time T we consider them as roughly having disjoint supports. For  $|t| \ge T$  we can apply the ordinary Strichartz inequality and, because of the disjoint support condition, the left side of (8) is of the order of  $N^{p/q}$  (by the triangle inequality for the *t*-integration and the fact that  $p \ge q$ ), which is much smaller than what we try to prove. Thus, it remains to compute the order of magnitude of T.

We think of T as the typical time it takes an electron to move a distance comparable with the size of the system. Thomas–Fermi theory says that the momentum p per particle is  $|p| \sim \rho^{1/d}$ . If we assume that the electrons move ballistically, then  $T \sim L/|p| \sim L\rho^{-1/d}$ .

Thus, the left side of (5), restricted to times  $|t| \leq T$ , is  $\sim T(L^d \rho^q)^{p/q} \sim L\rho^{-1/d}L^{dp/q}\rho^p$ . Because of the scaling condition 2/p+d/q = d, this coincides with the value  $N^{p(q+1)/(2q)}$  of the right side of (8).

2.3. **Dual Strichartz inequality.** In this paper we will not provide a direct proof of Theorem 1, but we will rather prove an inequality that is *dual* to (5) and which we describe in this section. It is an interesting open problem to provide a direct proof of (5). For the Lieb-Thirring inequality (1), this has been solved only recently by Rumin in [30].

We recall that for any (locally) trace-class operator  $\gamma$  and any bounded function V of compact support,

$$\operatorname{Tr}(V(x)\gamma) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V(x)\rho_{\gamma}(x) \, dx,$$

where V(x) on the left is identified with the corresponding multiplication operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . For a time-dependent potential  $V(t, x) \in L^{\infty}_c(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ , we therefore obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \operatorname{Tr} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} \, dt \right) \gamma \right| &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Tr} (V e^{it\Delta} \gamma e^{-it\Delta}) \, dt \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V(t,x) \rho_{\gamma(t)}(x) \, dx \, dt \right| \\ &\leq \|V\|_{L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d))} \left\| \rho_{\gamma(t)} \right\|_{L_t^p(\mathbb{R}, L_x^q(\mathbb{R}^d))} \end{aligned}$$

where p' and q' are the exponents dual to p and q. Hence, by duality Theorem 1 turns out to be equivalent to the following

**Theorem 2** (Strichartz inequality in Schatten spaces, dual version). Assume that  $p', q', d \ge 1$  satisfy

$$1 + \frac{d}{2} \leqslant q' < \infty$$
 and  $\frac{2}{p'} + \frac{d}{q'} = 2.$ 

We have

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} dt \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{2q'}} \leq C_{d,q} \left\| V \right\|_{L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d))}$$
(10)

where  $C_{d,q}$  is the same constant as in Theorem 1.

**Remark 2.** For  $q' = \infty$  and p' = 1, we have the bound

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} dt \right\| \leq \|V\|_{L^{1}_{t}(\mathbb{R},L^{\infty}_{x}(\mathbb{R}^{d}))}.$$
(11)

The dual version of the usual Strichartz inequality (3) is

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} dt \right\| \leq C \left\| V \right\|_{L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d))}.$$
 (12)

The replacement of the operator norm on the left by the Schatten norm  $\mathfrak{S}^{2q'}$  for  $q' < \infty$  is our main contribution. Of course, since the Schatten spaces form an increasing sequence, we deduce that

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} dt \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^r} \leq C \left\| V \right\|_{L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d))}, \qquad \forall r \ge 2q'.$$
(13)

Using (10), we are also able to prove an inhomogeneous inequality. Consider the equation

$$\begin{cases} i\dot{\gamma}(t) = [-\Delta, \gamma(t)] + iR(t) \\ \gamma(t_0) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(14)

where R(t) is a self-adjoint operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  which, say, is bounded for almost every t. The solution can be written as

$$\gamma(t) = \int_{t_0}^t e^{i(t-s)\Delta} R(s) e^{i(s-t)\Delta} \, ds.$$
(15)

**Corollary 1** (Inhomogeneous Strichartz inequality). Assume that  $p, q, d \ge 1$  satisfy

$$1 < q \leqslant 1 + \frac{2}{d}$$
 and  $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{d}{q} = d$ 

and let  $\gamma(t)$  be given by (15). Then we have

$$\left\|\rho_{\gamma(t)}\right\|_{L^{p}_{t}(\mathbb{R},L^{q}_{x}(\mathbb{R}^{d}))} \leq C \left\|\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-is\Delta} |R(s)| e^{is\Delta} \, ds\right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{\frac{2q}{q+1}}} \tag{16}$$

for a constant C which is independent of  $t_0$ .

The proof of Corollary 1 is again based on a dual argument. The idea is to write

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{t_0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V(t,x) \rho_{\gamma(t)}(x) \, dx \, dt \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{t_0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr} \big( V(t,x) \gamma(t) \big) \, dt \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{t_0}^{\infty} \int_{t_0}^{t} \operatorname{Tr} \big( e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} e^{-is\Delta} R(s) e^{is\Delta} \big) \, ds \, dt \right| \\ &\leqslant \int_{t_0}^{\infty} \int_{t_0}^{t} \operatorname{Tr} \big( e^{-it\Delta} |V(t,x)| e^{it\Delta} e^{-is\Delta} |R(s)| e^{is\Delta} \big) \, ds \, dt \\ &\leqslant \operatorname{Tr} \left( \left( \int_{t_0}^{\infty} e^{-it\Delta} |V(t,x)| e^{it\Delta} \, dt \right) \left( \int_{t_0}^{\infty} e^{-is\Delta} |R(s)| e^{is\Delta} \, ds \right) \right). \end{split}$$

In the first inequality we have used that  $|\text{Tr}(AB)| \leq \text{Tr}(|A||B|)$  for all selfadjoint operators A and B. It then remains to use Hölder's inequality for traces and (10) for the term involving V(t, x). The argument is the same for times  $t \leq t_0$ .

2.4. The end point. We believe that our Strichartz inequality (5) is true for all

$$1 \leqslant q < \frac{d+1}{d-1} \tag{17}$$

but so far we are missing the result in the interval 1+2/d < q < (d+1)/(d-1). This corresponds to the range (d+1)/2 < q' < 1 + d/2 for the dual inequality (10).

We can prove that the operator  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} dt$  is never in the Schatten space  $\mathfrak{S}^{d+1}$ , even when V has a fast decay in space and time. This means that the Strichartz inequality (10) cannot hold at p' = d+1 and q' = (d+1)/2, and that the condition (17) is necessary.

**Proposition 2** (The end point). Let  $0 \neq V \in L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  be a nonnegative function with non-negative Fourier transform (in both space and time). Then

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} dt\right)^{d+1} = +\infty.$$
(18)

We find logarithmically divergent integrals at (p',q') = (d+1,(d+1)/2), which suggests that the operator  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta}V(t,x)e^{it\Delta} dt$  is in the weak Schatten space  $\mathfrak{S}_{w}^{d+1}$  when  $V \in L_{t}^{d+1}(\mathbb{R}, L_{x}^{(d+1)/2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}))$ . If true, this would imply the bound

$$\|\rho_{\gamma(t)}\|_{L^{1+1/d}_t(\mathbb{R}, L^{(d+1)/(d-1)}_x(\mathbb{R}^d))} \leqslant C \, \|\gamma\|_{\mathfrak{S}^r} \,, \quad \forall 1 \leqslant r < 1 + \frac{1}{d}.$$

This estimate would follow from the bound (7) if it were true at the end point (p,q) = (1 + 1/d, (d+1)/(d-1)), and it is therefore weaker than (7).

# 3. Application: the Schrödinger wave operator for time-dependent potentials

In this section we consider the wave operator for a time-dependent potential V(t, x). Using our previous estimates we will be able to define it in Schatten spaces.

Let  $V(t,x) \in L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d))$  with p' and q' as in Theorem 2. We consider the time-dependent Schrödinger equation

$$\begin{cases}
i \frac{\partial}{\partial t} u(t, x) = (-\Delta + V(t, x)) u(t, x) \\
u(t_0, x) = u_0(x)
\end{cases}$$
(19)

and we define the associated unitary propagator  $U_V(t, t_0)$ , which is such that

$$\begin{cases} i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}U_V(t,t_0) = (-\Delta + V(t,x))U_V(t,t_0) \\ U_V(t_0,t_0) = 1. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, the unique solution to the time-dependent Schrödinger equation (19) can be written  $u(t) = U_V(t, t_0)u_0$ . The proof that  $U_V(t, t_0)$  is well-defined under our assumptions on V can be found for instance in [36].

The wave operator is defined by

$$\mathcal{W}_V(t,t_0) := U_0(t_0,t)U_V(t,t_0) = e^{i(t_0-t)\Delta}U_V(t,t_0)$$
(20)

and it solves the equation in the "interaction picture"

$$\begin{cases} i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\mathcal{W}_{V}(t,t_{0}) = e^{i(t_{0}-t)\Delta}V(t,x)e^{i(t-t_{0})\Delta}\mathcal{W}_{V}(t,t_{0})\\ \mathcal{W}_{V}(t_{0},t_{0}) = 1. \end{cases}$$
(21)

The unique solution to (21) can be written in a Dyson series as

$$\mathcal{W}_V(t, t_0) = 1 + \sum_{n \ge 1} \mathcal{W}_V^{(n)}(t, t_0),$$
 (22)

where the nth order is the operator

$$\mathcal{W}_{V}^{(n)}(t,t_{0}) := (-i)^{n} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} dt_{n} \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{n}} dt_{n-1} \cdots \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{2}} dt_{1} e^{i(t_{0}-t_{n})\Delta} V(t_{n},x) e^{i(t_{n}-t_{n-1})\Delta} \cdots e^{i(t_{2}-t_{1})\Delta} V(t_{1},x) e^{i(t_{1}-t_{0})\Delta}.$$
 (23)

Note, in particular, that the first order is

$$\mathcal{W}_{V}^{(1)}(t,t_{0}) := -i \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{i(t_{0}-s)\Delta} V(s,x) e^{i(s-t_{0})\Delta} \, ds,$$

which we have already estimated in Theorem 2. It admits a limit as  $t \to \pm \infty$ in the Schatten space  $\mathfrak{S}^{2q'}$  when  $V \in L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ .

Taking  $t \to \pm \infty$  in all the terms leads to the (formal) wave operator

$$\mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}(t_0) = 1 + \sum_{n \ge 1} \mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}^{(n)}(t_0)$$
(24)

with

$$\mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}^{(n)}(t_0) := (-i)^n \int_{t_0}^{\pm\infty} dt_n \int_{t_0}^{t_n} dt_{n-1} \cdots \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_1 \ e^{i(t_0 - t_n)\Delta} V(t_n, x) e^{i(t_n - t_{n-1})\Delta} \cdots e^{i(t_2 - t_1)\Delta} V(t_1, x) e^{i(t_1 - t_0)\Delta}.$$
 (25)

The finite-time wave operators  $\mathcal{W}_{V}^{(n)}(t,t_{0})$  can be recovered by taking a potential V of compact support in time. The series (24) defining  $\mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}$  is known to converge in the operator norm when  $V \in L_{t}^{1}(L_{x}^{\infty})$ , see [16, Prop. 2.2]. Simply, we have in this case

$$\left\| \mathcal{W}_{V,+}^{(n)}(t_0) \right\| \leq \int_{t_0}^{\infty} dt_n \int_{t_0}^{t_n} dt_{n-1} \cdots \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_1 \left\| V(t_n, \cdot) \right\|_{L_x^{\infty}} \cdots \left\| V(t_1, \cdot) \right\|_{L_x^{\infty}} = \frac{1}{n!} \left\| V \right\|_{L^1(t_0, \infty; L_x^{\infty})}^n,$$
(26)

which proves that the series (24) has an infinite radius of convergence. In particular there is no size condition on  $\|V\|_{L_t^1(L_x^\infty)}$ . The argument is the same for  $\mathcal{W}_{V,-}^{(n)}(t_0)$ . The existence of the wave operators for time-dependent potentials  $V \in L_t^{p'}(L_x^{q'})$  has been discussed in several works, including for instance [15, 36, 37, 16, 17, 29, 10, 28, 27].

Our main result is a control of the Schatten norm of  $\mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}^{(n)}(t_0)$  in terms of the  $L_t^{p'}(L_x^{q'})$  norm of the potential V, which generalizes the operator norm bound (26). It makes the series (22) convergent in Schatten spaces, independently of the size of the norm of V.

**Theorem 3** (Wave operator in Schatten spaces). For  $V \in L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ with p' and q' as in Theorem 2, we have

$$\left\| \mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}^{(n)}(t_0) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{2\left\lceil \frac{q'}{n} \right\rceil}} \leqslant \frac{C^n}{(n!)^{\frac{1}{p'}-\varepsilon}} \left\| V \right\|_{L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R},L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d))}^n \tag{27}$$

for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $n \ge 2$ ,  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ , and some constant C which only depends on  $\varepsilon, d, q'$ . In particular, the map

 $V \in L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d)) \mapsto \mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}(t_0) - 1 \in \mathfrak{S}^{2q'}$ 

is a smooth function.

Since  $2\lceil q'/n\rceil \leq 2q'$  for all  $q' \geq 1 + d/2$  and all  $n \geq 2$ , it follows from Theorems 2 and 3 that the scattering matrix

$$S_V(t_0) = \mathcal{W}_{V,+}(t_0) \, \mathcal{W}_{V,-}(t_0)^*$$

belongs to  $1 + \mathfrak{S}^{2q'}$ , under our assumptions on the time-dependent potential V(t,x). It is a smooth function of V in the space  $L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ .

#### 4. Proofs

4.1. Proof of Theorems 1 and 2: the main inequality. The duality argument showing that Theorem 1 is equivalent to Theorem 2 has already been sketched before and we leave the details to the reader. All the manipulations can be justified by assuming first that  $V \in L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  and that  $\gamma$  is finite rank.

We have to show that the operator

$$V \in L_t^{p'}(\mathbb{R}, L_x^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d)) \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t, x) e^{it\Delta} dt \in \mathfrak{S}^{2q'}$$

is bounded. By the complex interpolation method [3, Chap. 4], it is sufficient to prove this fact at the two points  $(p',q') = (1,\infty)$  and (p',q') = (1+d/2, 1+d/2).

For  $(p',q') = (1,\infty)$ , the argument is well-known. We simply bound the operator norm by

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} \, dt \right\| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\| e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} \right\| \, dt \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \| V(t,\cdot) \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \, dt \end{split}$$

which is the desired estimate.

Let us turn to the case p' = q' = 1 + d/2. Without any loss of generality, we may assume that  $V \ge 0$ . We then have  $e^{-it\Delta}V(t,x)e^{it\Delta} \ge 0$  as an operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . We can also assume that  $V \in L^{\infty}_c(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ (the final estimate follows from a monotone convergence argument).

It will be useful to shorten our notation. First we recall that

$$e^{-it\Delta}xe^{it\Delta} = x - 2it\nabla$$

where x is here identified with the multiplication operator by x, and which can be seen by differentiating with respect to t. By the functional calculus we deduce that

$$e^{-it\Delta}f(x)e^{it\Delta} = f(x+2tp)$$

with  $p := -i\nabla$ . From this we deduce that

$$e^{-it\Delta}V(t,x)e^{it\Delta} = V(t,x+2tp).$$

Using that  $V \ge 0$ , we can write the Schatten norm as

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} dt \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{d+2}}^{d+2}$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} dt \right)^{d+2}$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} V(t,x+2tp) dt \right)^{d+2}$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}} V(t_{1},x+2t_{1}p) \cdots V(t_{d+2},x+2t_{d+2}p) dt_{1} \cdots dt_{d+2} \right).$$
(28)

The first step is to exchange the trace and the integral and, in order to justify this manipulation, we need to prove that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|V(t_1, x + 2t_1 p) \cdots V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2} p)\|_{\mathfrak{S}^1} dt_1 \cdots dt_{d+2} < \infty$$
(29)

(at least for  $V \in L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ , which we assume throughout here). In order to estimate the trace norm in the integral, we make use of the following

**Lemma 1.** Let  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in \mathbb{R}$ . We have

$$\|f(\alpha x + \beta p) g(\gamma x + \delta p)\|_{\mathfrak{S}^r} \leqslant \frac{\|f\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^d)} \|g\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^d)}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{r}} |\alpha \delta - \beta \gamma|^{\frac{d}{r}}}$$
(30)

for all  $r \ge 2$ .

For  $\alpha = \delta = 1$  and  $\beta = \gamma = 0$ , the estimate is just the well-known Kato-Seiler-Simon inequality

$$\|f(x) g(p)\|_{\mathfrak{S}^r} \leqslant (2\pi)^{-d/r} \|f\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^d)} \|g\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^d)}, \qquad (31)$$

see [31] and [32, Thm 4.1]. The generalization (30) implicitly appears in [4, Sec. 2.1].

We postpone the proof of the lemma and go on with the proof of (29). Using the fact that  $V \ge 0$  and Hölder's inequality in Schatten spaces, we write

$$\begin{aligned} \|V(t_1, x + 2t_1p) \cdots V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p)\|_{\mathfrak{S}^1} \\ &= \left\| V(t_1, x + 2t_1p) \sqrt{V(t_2, x + 2t_2p)} \sqrt{V(t_2, x + 2t_2p)} \cdots \right. \\ &\cdots \sqrt{V(t_{d+1}, x + 2t_{d+1}p)} V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^1} \\ &\leqslant \left\| V(t_1, x + 2t_1p) \sqrt{V(t_2, x + 2t_2p)} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{d+1}} \times \\ &\times \left\| \sqrt{V(t_2, x + 2t_2p)} \sqrt{V(t_3, x + 2t_3p)} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{d+1}} \times \cdots \\ &\cdots \times \left\| \sqrt{V(t_{d+1}, x + 2t_{d+1}p)} V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{d+1}}. \end{aligned}$$

Using now (30) and the fact that  $V \in L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ , we get

$$\|V(t_{1}, x + 2t_{1}p) \cdots V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p)\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{1}}$$

$$\leq \frac{\|V(t_{1}, \cdot)\|_{L_{x}^{d+1}} \|V(t_{2}, \cdot)\|_{L_{x}^{\frac{d+1}{2}}} \cdots \|V(t_{d+1}, \cdot)\|_{L_{x}^{\frac{d+1}{2}}} \|V(t_{d+2}, \cdot)\|_{L_{x}^{d+1}}}{(4\pi)^{d} |t_{1} - t_{2}|^{\frac{d}{d+1}} \cdots |t_{d+1} - t_{d+2}|^{\frac{d}{d+1}}}$$

$$\leq C \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{d+2} \mathbb{1}(a \leq t_{j} \leq b)}{(4\pi)^{d} |t_{1} - t_{2}|^{\frac{d}{d+1}} \cdots |t_{d+1} - t_{d+2}|^{\frac{d}{d+1}}}$$

$$(32)$$

where (a, b) is the support of V in the time variable. At this step we use the multilinear Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality.

**Theorem 4** (Multilinear Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality). Assume that  $(\beta_{ij})_{1 \leq i,j \leq N}$  and  $(r_k)_{1 \leq k \leq N}$  are real-numbers such that

$$\beta_{ii} = 0, \quad 0 \leq \beta_{ij} = \beta_{ji} < 1, \quad r_k > 1, \quad \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{1}{r_k} > 1, \quad \sum_{i=1}^N \beta_{ik} = \frac{2(r_k - 1)}{r_k}.$$
(33)

Then there exists a constant C such that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{f_1(t_1) \cdots f_N(t_N)}{\prod_{i < j} |t_i - t_j|^{\beta_{ij}}} dt_1 \cdots dt_N \right| \leqslant C \prod_{k=1}^N \|f_k\|_{L^{r_k}(\mathbb{R})}$$
(34)

for all  $f_k \in L^{r_k}(\mathbb{R})$ .

The multilinear Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality can be found in [1, Thm. 6] and, in the particular case where all the  $\beta_{ij}$  and the  $r_k$  are identical, in [8, Prop. 2.2]. Applying (34) with  $r_1 = r_{d+2} = 2(d+1)/(d+2)$  and  $r_2 = \cdots = r_{d+1} = d+1$ , we conclude that (29) holds. Hence we have shown that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta}V(t,x)e^{it\Delta}\,dt\right)^{d+2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}}\cdots\int_{\mathbb{R}}\operatorname{Tr}\left(V(t_1,x+2t_1p)\cdots V(t_{d+2},x+2t_{d+2}p)\right)dt_1\cdots dt_{d+2}.$$

By following the previous argument we will now derive a more symmetric estimate on the trace in the integral. Simply, we use the cyclicity of the trace and get, this time,

$$\left| \operatorname{Tr} \left( V(t_{1}, x + 2t_{1}p) \cdots V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p) \right) \right|$$
  
=  $\left| \operatorname{Tr} \left( \sqrt{V(t_{1}, x + 2t_{1}p)} \cdots V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p) \sqrt{V(t_{1}, x + 2t_{1}p)} \right) \right|$   
 $\leq \left\| \sqrt{V(t_{1}, x + 2t_{1}p)} \sqrt{V(t_{2}, x + 2t_{2}p)} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{d+2}} \times \cdots$   
 $\cdots \times \left\| \sqrt{V(t_{d+1}, x + 2t_{d+1}p)} \sqrt{V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p)} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{d+2}} \times$   
 $\times \left\| \sqrt{V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p)} \sqrt{V(t_{1}, x + 2t_{1}p)} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{d+2}}.$  (35)

With the aid of (30) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \operatorname{Tr} \Big( V(t_1, x + 2t_1 p) \cdots V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2} p) \Big) \right| \\ &\leqslant \frac{\| V(t_1, \cdot) \|_{L_x^{1+d/2}} \cdots \| V(t_{d+2}, \cdot) \|_{L_x^{1+d/2}}}{(4\pi)^d |t_1 - t_2|^{\frac{d}{d+2}} \cdots |t_{d+2} - t_1|^{\frac{d}{d+2}}} \end{aligned}$$

Using again the multilinear Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality (34), this time with  $r_1 = \cdots = r_{d+2} = 1 + d/2$ , we conclude that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t,x) e^{it\Delta} dt\right)^{d+2} \leqslant C \, \|V\|_{L^{1+d/2}_{t,x}}^{d+2},$$

as we wanted.

**Remark 3.** At the end point p' = d + 1, q' = (d + 1)/2 we have precisely d + 1 functions and the above proof cannot be applied, since  $\sum_{k=1}^{d+1} 1/r_k = 1$  in this case.

**Remark 4.** It is useful to think of the semi-classical regime, in which

$$\operatorname{Tr}\Big(V(t_1, x + 2t_1p) \cdots V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p)\Big)$$
  

$$\simeq (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V(t_1, x + 2t_1p) \cdots V(t_{d+2}, x + 2t_{d+2}p) \, dx \, dp.$$

The right side can be estimated by  $C_{\mathrm{BL}} \prod_{j=1}^{N} \|V(t_j, \cdot)\|_{L_x^{1+d/2}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$ . The best constant  $C_{\mathrm{BL}}$  in this inequality was found by Brascamp and Lieb in [5] and it can also be controlled by  $|t_1 - t_2|^{-d/(d+2)} \cdots |t_{d+2} - t_1|^{-d/(d+2)}$ .

It remains to provide the

Proof of Lemma 1. For  $r = \infty$  this is obvious. For r = 2, we get

$$\begin{split} \|f(\alpha x + \beta p) g(\gamma x + \delta p)\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{2}}^{2} \\ &= \operatorname{Tr} \left[ |f(\alpha x + \beta p)|^{2} |g(\gamma x + \delta p)|^{2} \right] \\ &= \operatorname{Tr} \left[ e^{-i\frac{\beta}{2\alpha}p^{2}} |f(\alpha x)|^{2} e^{i\frac{\beta}{2\alpha}p^{2}} e^{-i\frac{\delta}{2\gamma}p^{2}} |g(\gamma x)|^{2} e^{i\frac{\delta}{2\gamma}p^{2}} \right] \\ &= \operatorname{Tr} \left[ |f(\alpha x)|^{2} e^{i\frac{\beta\gamma - \alpha\delta}{2\alpha\gamma}p^{2}} |g(\gamma x)|^{2} e^{-i\frac{\beta\gamma - \alpha\delta}{2\alpha\gamma}p^{2}} \right] \\ &= \left| \frac{\alpha\gamma}{2\pi(\beta\gamma - \alpha\delta)} \right|^{d} \iint |f(\alpha x)|^{2} e^{-i\frac{\alpha\gamma}{2(\beta\gamma - \alpha\delta)}|x - y|^{2}} |g(\gamma y)|^{2} e^{i\frac{\alpha\gamma}{2(\beta\gamma - \alpha\delta)}|y - x|^{2}} dx dy \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d} |\beta\gamma - \alpha\delta|^{d}} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2} \|g\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{2}. \end{split}$$

The inequality in  $\mathfrak{S}^r$  now follows from complex interpolation or, alternatively, from the Lieb-Thirring inequality for matrices [25].

**Remark 5.** By following Cwikel's proof (see [9] and [32, Thm. 4.2]), one can show the weak-type bound

$$\|f(\alpha x + \beta p) g(\gamma x + \delta p)\|_{\mathfrak{S}_{w}^{r}} \leqslant C_{d,r} \frac{\|f\|_{L_{w}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \|g\|_{L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}}{|\alpha \delta - \beta \gamma|^{\frac{d}{r}}}$$
(36)

for all  $2 < r < \infty$ .

4.2. Proof of Proposition 1: optimality of the Schatten exponent. Our proof is based on coherent states and ideas from semi-classical analysis. We will introduce a family of operators  $\gamma$  depending on three positive parameters  $\beta$ , L and  $\mu$ , which will be chosen appropriately at the end of the proof. To define  $\gamma$  we use coherent states  $F_{x,\xi}$ , depending on parameters  $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$F_{x,\xi}(z) = (2\pi\beta)^{-d/4} e^{-(z-x)^2/(4\beta)} e^{i\xi \cdot z}$$

These functions are normalized in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and satisfy

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \frac{dx \, d\xi}{(2\pi)^d} |F_{x,\xi}\rangle \langle F_{x,\xi}| = 1.$$

Now we define

$$\gamma = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \frac{dx \, d\xi}{(2\pi)^d} e^{-x^2/L^2 - \xi^2/\mu} |F_{x,\xi}\rangle \langle F_{x,\xi}|.$$

The relevant parameter in our computation is

$$N = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \gamma(z, z) \, dz = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \frac{dx \, d\xi}{(2\pi)^d} e^{-x^2/L^2 - \xi^2/\mu} = A_d L^d \mu^{d/2}$$

with an explicit constant  $A_d$ , depending only on d.

Obviously,  $\gamma \ge 0$  and, by the Berezin–Lieb inequality [2, 19],

$$\operatorname{Tr}\gamma^{r} \leqslant \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{dx \, d\xi}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{-rx^{2}/L^{2} - r\xi^{2}/\mu} = r^{-d}N$$

for  $r \ge 1$ . Therefore the denominator in (9) does not exceed  $r^{-d/r} N^{1/r}$ , uniformly in  $\beta$ . To finish the proof we will now show that, by choosing  $\beta, L, \mu$  appropriately, we can bound the numerator from below by a constant times  $N^{(q+1)/(2q)}$ . Then we choose  $\mu$  and L large and we get the result in the limit  $N \to \infty$ .

To carry out this strategy we compute the left side explicitly. We give the main steps of the computation. First,

$$|e^{it\Delta}F_{x,\xi}(z)| = \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi(\beta^2 + t^2)}\right)^{d/4} e^{-\frac{\beta}{4(\beta^2 + t^2)}(z - x + 2t\xi)^2}.$$

Next,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} d\xi \, e^{-\xi^2/\mu} |e^{it\Delta} F_{x,\xi}(z)|^2 = \left(\frac{\beta\mu}{2(\beta^2 + t^2 + 2\beta\mu t^2)}\right)^{d/2} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2(\beta^2 + t^2 + 2\beta\mu t^2)}(x-z)^2}$$
and

ana

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\gamma(t)}(z) &:= \rho_{e^{it\Delta}\gamma e^{-it\Delta}}(z) \\ &= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \frac{dx \, d\xi}{(2\pi)^d} e^{-x^2/L^2 - \xi^2/\mu} |e^{it\Delta} F_{x,\xi}(z)|^2 \\ &= \left(\frac{\beta \mu L^2}{4\pi (2\beta^2 + \beta L^2 + 2t^2 + 4\beta \mu t^2)}\right)^{d/2} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2\beta^2 + \beta L^2 + 2t^2 + 4\beta \mu t^2} z^2}. \end{split}$$

We finally compute the  $L_t^p(L_x^q)$  norm of this expression. We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \,\rho_{\gamma(t)}(z)^q = \left(\frac{\pi}{q}\right)^{d/2} (4\pi)^{-dq/2} \left(\mu L^2\right)^{dq/2} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\beta^2 + \beta L^2 + 2t^2 + 4\beta\mu t^2}\right)^{(q-1)d/2}$$

and, using the fact that p(q-1)d/q = 2,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} dt \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \, \rho_{\gamma(t)}(z)^q \right)^{p/q} = A^p_{d,p} \left( \mu L^2 \right)^{dp/2} \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\beta L^2 + 2\beta^2} \sqrt{2 + 4\beta\mu}} \,,$$

where

$$A_{d,p}^{p} = \left(\frac{\pi}{q}\right)^{dp/(2q)} (4\pi)^{-dp/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{ds}{1+s^{2}} = (q\pi)^{dp/2-1} 2^{-dp}.$$

Thus,

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} dt \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \,\rho_{\gamma(t)}(z)^q\right)^{p/q}\right)^{1/p}$$
  
=  $A_{d,p} \left(\mu L^2\right)^{d/2} \left(\frac{1}{L^2 + 2\beta}\right)^{1/(2p)} \left(\frac{1}{4\mu + 2\beta^{-1}}\right)^{1/(2p)}$   
=  $A_{d,p} (\mu L^2)^{d/2 - 1/(2p)} \left(1 + \frac{2\beta}{L^2}\right)^{-1/(2p)} \left(4 + \frac{2}{\beta\mu}\right)^{-1/(2p)}$ 

Since d/2 - 1/(2p) = d(q+1)/(4q), we have shown that

$$\left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} dt \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \, \rho_{\gamma(t)}(z)^q \right)^{p/q} \right)^{1/p}$$
  
=  $\frac{A_{d,p}}{A_d^{(q+1)/(2q)}} N^{(q+1)/(2q)} \left( 1 + \frac{2\beta}{L^2} \right)^{-1/(2p)} \left( 4 + \frac{2}{\beta\mu} \right)^{-1/(2p)}$ 

In a parameter regime where  $1/\mu \ll \beta \ll L^2,$  we obtain

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} dt \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dz \,\rho_{\gamma(t)}(z)^q\right)^{p/q}\right)^{1/p} \sim \frac{2^{-1/p} A_{d,p}}{A_d^{(q+1)/(2q)}} N^{(q+1)/(2q)} \,,$$

as claimed.

# 4.3. Proof of Proposition 2: the end point. Let us define the operator

$$B_V := \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\Delta} V(t, x) e^{it\Delta} dt, \qquad (37)$$

whose kernel in Fourier space is given by

$$\widehat{B}_V(p,q) = (2\pi)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{itp^2} \mathcal{F}_x V(t,p-q) e^{-itq^2} dt = (2\pi)^{\frac{1-d}{2}} \widehat{V}(p^2-q^2,p-q).$$

Here  $\mathcal{F}_x$  is the Fourier transform with respect to the space variable x and  $\hat{V} = \mathcal{F}_t \mathcal{F}_x V$  denotes the Fourier transform of V with respect to both space and time. We deduce that

$$\operatorname{Tr}B_{V}^{d+1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dp \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dp_{1} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dp_{d} \,\widehat{B}_{V}(p, p_{1}) \widehat{B}_{V}(p_{1}, p_{2}) \cdots$$
$$\cdots \widehat{B}_{V}(p_{d-1}, p_{d}) \widehat{B}_{V}(p_{d}, p)$$
$$= (2\pi)^{\frac{1-d^{2}}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dp \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dp_{1} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dp_{d} \,\widehat{V}(p^{2} - p_{1}^{2}, p - p_{1}) \times$$
$$\times \widehat{V}(p_{1}^{2} - p_{2}^{2}, p_{1} - p_{2}) \cdots \widehat{V}(p_{d-1}^{2} - p_{d}^{2}, p_{d-1} - p_{d}) \widehat{V}(p_{d}^{2} - p^{2}, p_{d} - p).$$

Note that the integral always makes sense in  $[0, \infty]$  since  $\widehat{V} \ge 0$  by assumption. We now introduce new variables as follows:

$$\begin{cases} k_1 = p - p_1 \\ k_2 = p_1 - p_2 \\ \vdots \\ k_d = p_{d-1} - p_d \\ u = p + p_d. \end{cases}$$

A simple calculation shows that

$$\operatorname{Tr} B_{V}^{d+1} = 2^{-\frac{(d+1)^{2}}{2}} \pi^{\frac{1-d^{2}}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} du \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dk_{1} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dk_{d}$$
$$\widehat{V} \left( k_{1} \cdot (u + k_{2} + \dots + k_{d}), k_{1} \right) \widehat{V} \left( k_{2} \cdot (u - k_{1} + k_{3} + \dots + k_{d}), k_{2} \right) \times \cdots$$
$$\cdots \times \widehat{V} \left( k_{d} \cdot (u - k_{1} - \dots - k_{d-1}), k_{d} \right) \widehat{V} \left( -u \cdot (k_{1} + \dots + k_{d}), -k_{1} - \dots - k_{d} \right).$$

We change again variables and define  $v := K^{-1}u$  where K is the matrix which contains  $k_1, ..., k_d$  on its rows. This matrix is such that  $(K^T)^{-1}k_i = e_i$ , the canonical basis. We get

$$\operatorname{Tr} B_{V}^{d+1} = 2^{-\frac{(d+1)^{2}}{2}} \pi^{\frac{1-d^{2}}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dv \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dk_{1} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dk_{d} \frac{1}{|\det K|}$$
$$\widehat{V} (v_{1} + k_{1} \cdot (k_{2} + \dots + k_{d}), k_{1}) \widehat{V} (v_{2} + k_{2} \cdot (-k_{1} + k_{3} + \dots + k_{d}), k_{2}) \times \cdots$$
$$\cdots \times \widehat{V} (v_{d} + k_{d} \cdot (-k_{1} - \dots - k_{d-1}), k_{d}) \widehat{V} (-v_{1} - \dots - v_{d}, -k_{1} - \dots - k_{d}).$$

Changing again variables we get

$$\operatorname{Tr} B_{V}^{d+1} = 2^{-\frac{(d+1)^{2}}{2}} \pi^{\frac{1-d^{2}}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dw \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dk_{1} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dk_{d} \frac{1}{|\det K|} \widehat{V}(w_{1}, k_{1}) \times \widehat{V}(w_{2}, k_{2}) \cdots \widehat{V}(w_{d}, k_{d}) \widehat{V}(-w_{1} - \cdots - w_{d}, -k_{1} - \cdots - k_{d}).$$

Note that

$$|\det(K)| = |k_1| \cdots |k_d| |\det(\omega_1, ..., \omega_d)|$$

with  $\omega_j = k_j |k_j|^{-1}$ . Since  $V \in L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ , we have  $\widehat{V} > 0$  on an open set, and we see that our integral can only be finite if the function

$$(\omega_1, ..., \omega_d) \in (\mathbb{S}^{d-1})^d \mapsto |\det(\omega_1, ..., \omega_d)|^{-1}$$

belongs to  $L^1(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})^d$ . But it is well-known that this is never the case (see, e.g., [11, 14, 35] and the references therein). For instance, in dimension d = 3, we can compute in spherical coordinates

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\omega_1 \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\omega_2 \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\omega_3 \frac{1}{|\det(\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3)|} \\ &= 4\pi \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\omega_2 \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} d\omega_3 \frac{1}{|\det(e_3, \omega_2, \omega_3)|} \\ &= 4\pi \int_0^\pi \sin\theta \, d\theta \int_0^{2\pi} d\varphi \int_0^\pi \sin\theta' \, d\theta' \int_0^{2\pi} d\varphi' \frac{1}{\sin\theta \sin\theta' |\sin(\varphi - \varphi')|} \\ &= +\infty. \end{split}$$

In the first line we have used that by rotation-invariance, the integral over  $\omega_2$  and  $\omega_3$  does not depend on  $\omega_1$ . In the second line we have written  $\omega_2 = (\cos \varphi \sin \theta, \sin \varphi \sin \theta, \cos \theta)$  and  $\omega_3 = (\cos \varphi' \sin \theta', \sin \varphi' \sin \theta', \cos \theta')$ , which gives

$$|\det(e_3, \omega_2, \omega_3)| = |\cos\varphi\sin\theta\sin\varphi'\sin\theta' - \cos\varphi'\sin\theta'\sin\varphi\sin\theta|$$
$$= \sin\theta\sin\theta'|\sin(\varphi - \varphi')|.$$

The argument is similar in other dimensions.

4.4. **Proof of Theorem 3: the wave operator.** We have already estimated  $\mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}^{(1)}(t_0)$  in  $\mathfrak{S}^{2q'}$  in Theorem 2 and the proof can be applied in the same way to bound the  $\mathfrak{S}^m$  norm of  $\mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}^{(n)}(t_0)$ , where  $m = 2\lceil q'/n \rceil$  is the smallest even integer which is  $\geq 2q'/n$ . We need an even integer to have that  $\left\| \mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}^{(n)}(t_0) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^m}^m = \operatorname{Tr} \left( \mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}^{(n)}(t_0) \mathcal{W}_{V,\pm}^{(n)}(t_0)^* \right)^{m/2}$ . We only have to discuss the large-*n* behavior of the constant in this estimate. To do so, we assume n > q' and we look at

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathcal{W}_{V,+}^{(n)}(t_0) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^2}^2 &= \int_{t_0 \leqslant t_1 \leqslant \cdots \leqslant t_n} dt_1 \cdots dt_n \int_{t_0 \leqslant s_1 \leqslant \cdots \leqslant s_n} ds_1 \cdots ds_n \\ & \operatorname{Tr} \left( V(t_n, x + 2(t_n - t_0)p) \cdots V(t_1, x + 2(t_1 - t_0)p) \times V(s_1, x + 2(s_1 - t_0)p) \cdots V(s_n, x + 2(s_n - t_0)p) \right). \end{aligned}$$

The argument is exactly the same for  $\mathcal{W}_{V,-}^{(n)}$ . Using (30) as in the proof of Theorem 2, we find

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathcal{W}_{V,+}^{(n)}(t_0) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^2}^2 &\leq (4\pi)^{-\frac{dn}{q'}} \int_{t_1 \leq \cdots \leq t_n} dt_1 \cdots dt_n \int_{s_1 \leq \cdots \leq s_n} ds_1 \cdots ds_n \\ &\times \frac{v(t_1) \cdots v(t_n) v(s_1) \cdots v(s_n)}{|t_1 - t_2|^{\frac{d}{2q'}} \cdots |t_n - s_n|^{\frac{d}{2q'}} |s_n - s_{n-1}|^{\frac{d}{2q'}} \cdots |s_1 - t_1|^{\frac{d}{2q'}}} \end{aligned}$$

where we have denoted  $v(s) := \|V(s, \cdot)\|_{L^{q'}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \mathbb{1}(s \ge t_0)$  for short. Now we introduce two parameters  $0 < \theta < 1$  and  $\alpha > p'$  (to be chosen later) and we write  $v = v^{\theta}v^{1-\theta}$ . By Hölder's inequality we find

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathcal{W}_{V,+}^{(n)}(t_0) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^2}^2 \\ &\leqslant (4\pi)^{-\frac{dn}{q'}} \left( \iint_{\substack{t_1 \leqslant \cdots \leqslant t_n \\ s_1 \leqslant \cdots \leqslant s_n}} v(t_1)^{\theta\alpha} \cdots v(t_n)^{\theta\alpha} v(s_1)^{\theta\alpha} \cdots v(s_n)^{\theta\alpha} \right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \\ &\times \left( \iint_{\substack{t_1 \leqslant \cdots \leqslant t_n \\ s_1 \leqslant \cdots \leqslant s_n}} \frac{v(t_1)^{(1-\theta)\alpha'} \cdots v(t_n)^{(1-\theta)\alpha'} v(s_1)^{(1-\theta)\alpha'} \cdots v(s_n)^{(1-\theta)\alpha'}}{|t_1 - t_2|^{\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}} \cdots |t_n - s_n|^{\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}} |s_n - s_{n-1}|^{\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}} \cdots |s_1 - t_1|^{\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}}} \right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha'}} \end{aligned}$$

with  $\alpha' = \alpha/(\alpha - 1)$ . By symmetry of the integrand with respect to the times  $t_j$  and  $s_j$ , we have

$$\iint_{\substack{t_1 \leq \dots \leq t_n \\ s_1 \leq \dots \leq s_n}} v(t_1)^{\theta \alpha} \cdots v(t_n)^{\theta \alpha} v(s_1)^{\theta \alpha} \cdots v(s_n)^{\theta \alpha} = \frac{1}{(n!)^2} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} v(t)^{\theta \alpha} dt \right)^{2n}.$$

For the other integral, we drop the time ordering for an upper bound, and we remark that it can then be written as a trace

$$\iint \frac{v(t_1)^{(1-\theta)\alpha'} \cdots v(t_n)^{(1-\theta)\alpha'} v(s_1)^{(1-\theta)\alpha'} \cdots v(s_n)^{(1-\theta)\alpha'}}{|t_1 - t_2|^{\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}} \cdots |t_n - s_n|^{\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}} |s_n - s_{n-1}|^{\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}} \cdots |s_1 - t_1|^{\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}}}{|i\partial_t|^{\frac{1-d\alpha'/(2q')}{2}}} v(t)^{(1-\theta)\alpha'} \frac{1}{|i\partial_t|^{\frac{1-d\alpha'/(2q')}{2}}} \right)^{2n}$$
$$= (2\pi)^{-n} A^{2n} \left\| \frac{1}{|i\partial_t|^{\frac{1-d\alpha'/(2q')}{2}}} v(t)^{\frac{(1-\theta)\alpha'}{2}}} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{4n}(L^2(\mathbb{R}))}^{4n}.$$

Here

$$A = 2^{\frac{1}{2}(1 - d\alpha'/q')} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1 - d\alpha'/(2q')}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d\alpha'}{4q'}\right)}$$

is the constant such that  $A|p|^{d\alpha'/(2q')-1}$  is the Fourier transform of  $|t|^{-d\alpha'/(2q')}$ . Now we use Cwikel's inequality

$$\|g(i\partial_t)f(t)\|_{\mathfrak{S}^r_{\mathrm{w}}} \leqslant C_r \|g\|_{L^r_{\mathrm{w}}} \|f\|_{L^r}, \qquad \forall r > 2$$

(see [9] and [32, Thm. 4.2) and get

$$\begin{split} \left\| \frac{1}{|i\partial_t|^{\frac{1-d\alpha'/(2q')}{2}}} v(t)^{\frac{(1-\theta)\alpha'}{2}} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{4n}} &\leqslant \left\| \frac{1}{|i\partial_t|^{\frac{1-d\alpha'/(2q')}{2}}} v(t)^{\frac{(1-\theta)\alpha'}{2}} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^{\frac{1}{1-d\alpha'/(2q')}}_{w}} \\ &\leqslant C \left\| v \right\|_{L^{\frac{(1-\theta)\alpha'}{1-d\alpha'/(2q')}}}^{(1-\theta)\alpha'/2}, \end{split}$$

provided that  $4n > 2(1 - d\alpha'/(2q'))^{-1}$ . In conclusion we have proved the inequality

$$\left\| \mathcal{W}_{V,+}^{(n)}(t_0) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^2} \leqslant \frac{C^n}{(n!)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}} \left\| v \right\|_{L^{\theta\alpha}}^{\theta n} \left\| v \right\|_{L^{\frac{(1-\theta)\alpha'}{1-d\alpha'/(2q')}}}^{(1-\theta)n}.$$

In order to get our result, we have to choose  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$  such as to satisfy the conditions

$$0 \leqslant \theta \leqslant 1, \quad 1 < \alpha' < \frac{2q'}{d}, \quad \theta \alpha = \frac{(1-\theta)\alpha'}{1-\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}}, \quad 4n > \frac{2}{1-\frac{d\alpha'}{2q'}}$$

For any fixed  $1 < \alpha' < 2q'/d$  (where we recall that  $q' \ge d+2$ ), we can find  $\theta \in (0,1)$  satisfying the above equations. A simple calculation then shows that  $\theta \alpha = p'$ , as we want. Choosing *n* larger than  $2^{-1}(1 - d\alpha'/(2q'))^{-1}$  finally gives

$$\left\| \mathcal{W}_{V,+}^{(n)}(t_0) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}^2} \leqslant \frac{C^n}{(n!)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}} \left\| v \right\|_{L^{p'}}^n = \frac{C^n}{(n!)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}} \left\| V \right\|_{L^{p'}_t(L^{q'}_x)}^n,$$

as was claimed.

Acknowledgement. M.L. would like to thank Philippe Gravejat for stimulating discussions. Grants from the U.S. NSF PHY-1068285 (R.F.), PHY-0965859 (E.L.), NSERC (R.S.), from the Simons Foundation #230207 (E.L.), and from the ERC MNIQS-258023 (M.L.) are gratefully acknowledged.

## References

- W. BECKNER, Geometric inequalities in fourier analysis, in Essays on Fourier Analysis in Honor of Elias M. Stein, Princeton Univ. Press, 1995, pp. 36–68. Conference held at Princeton University in May 1991 in honor of Elias M. Stein's sixtieth birthday.
- [2] F. A. BEREZIN, Convex functions of operators, Mat. Sb. (N.S.), 88(130) (1972), pp. 268–276.
- [3] J. BERGH AND J. LÖFSTRÖM, Interpolation spaces: an introduction, Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Springer, 1976.
- [4] M. S. BIRMAN, G. E. KARADZHOV, AND M. Z. SOLOMYAK, Boundedness conditions and spectrum estimates for the operators b(X)a(D) and their analogs, in Estimates and asymptotics for discrete spectra of integral and differential equations (Leningrad, 1989–90), vol. 7 of Adv. Soviet Math., Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1991, pp. 85–106.
- [5] H. J. BRASCAMP AND E. H. LIEB, Best constants in Young's inequality, its converse, and its generalization to more than three functions, Advances in Math., 20 (1976), pp. 151–173.
- [6] F. CASTELLA, L<sup>2</sup> solutions to the Schrödinger-Poisson system: existence, uniqueness, time behaviour, and smoothing effects, Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci., 7 (1997), pp. 1051–1083.
- [7] T. CAZENAVE, Semilinear Schrödinger equations, vol. 10 of Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics, New York University Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York, 2003.
- [8] M. CHRIST, On the restriction of the Fourier transform to curves: endpoint results and the degenerate case, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 287 (1985), pp. 223–238.
- M. CWIKEL, Weak type estimates for singular values and the number of bound states of Schrodinger operators, Annals of Mathematics, 106 (1977), pp. pp. 93–100.
- [10] P. D'ANCONA, V. PIERFELICE, AND N. VISCIGLIA, Some remarks on the Schrödinger equation with a potential in L<sup>\*</sup><sub>t</sub>L<sup>\*</sup><sub>s</sub>, Math. Ann., 333 (2005), pp. 271–290.
- [11] S. W. DRURY, Estimates for a multilinear form on the sphere, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 104 (1988), pp. 533–537.
- [12] J. GINIBRE AND G. VELO, Smoothing properties and retarded estimates for some dispersive evolution equations, Comm. Math. Phys., 144 (1992), pp. 163–188.
- [13] \_\_\_\_\_, Generalized Strichartz inequalities for the wave equation, J. Funct. Anal., 133 (1995), pp. 50–68.
- [14] P. T. GRESSMAN, On multilinear determinant functionals, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 139 (2011), pp. 2473–2484.
- [15] J. S. HOWLAND, Stationary scattering theory for time-dependent Hamiltonians, Math. Ann., 207 (1974), pp. 315–335.
- [16] A. JENSEN, Results in L<sup>p</sup>(**R**<sup>d</sup>) for the Schrödinger equation with a time-dependent potential, Math. Ann., 299 (1994), pp. 117–125.
- [17] —, Space-time scattering for the Schrödinger equation, Ark. Mat., 36 (1998), pp. 363–377.
- [18] M. KEEL AND T. TAO, Endpoint Strichartz estimates, Amer. J. Math., 120 (1998), pp. 955–980.
- [19] E. H. LIEB, The classical limit of quantum spin systems, Comm. Math. Phys., 31 (1973), pp. 327–340.
- [20] E. H. LIEB, The stability of matter, Rev. Mod. Phys., 48 (1976), pp. 553-569.
- [21] E. H. LIEB, An L<sup>p</sup> bound for the Riesz and Bessel potentials of orthonormal functions, J. Funct. Anal., 51 (1983), pp. 159–165.
- [22] E. H. LIEB, The stability of matter: from atoms to stars, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 22 (1990), pp. 1–49.

- [23] E. H. LIEB AND R. SEIRINGER, The Stability of Matter in Quantum Mechanics, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2010.
- [24] E. H. LIEB AND W. E. THIRRING, Bound on kinetic energy of fermions which proves stability of matter, Phys. Rev. Lett., 35 (1975), pp. 687–689.
- [25] —, Inequalities for the moments of the eigenvalues of the Schrödinger hamiltonian and their relation to Sobolev inequalities, Studies in Mathematical Physics, Princeton University Press, 1976, pp. 269–303.
- [26] H. LINDBLAD AND C. D. SOGGE, On existence and scattering with minimal regularity for semilinear wave equations, J. Funct. Anal., 130 (1995), pp. 357–426.
- [27] V. NAIBO AND A. STEFANOV, On some Schrödinger and wave equations with time dependent potentials, Math. Ann., 334 (2006), pp. 325–338.
- [28] V. PIERFELICE, Strichartz estimates for the Schrödinger and heat equations perturbed with singular and time dependent potentials, Asymptot. Anal., 47 (2006), pp. 1–18.
- [29] I. RODNIANSKI AND W. SCHLAG, Time decay for solutions of Schrödinger equations with rough and time-dependent potentials, Invent. Math., 155 (2004), pp. 451–513.
- [30] M. RUMIN, Spectral density and Sobolev inequalities for pure and mixed states, Geom. Funct. Anal., 20 (2010), pp. 817–844.
- [31] E. SEILER AND B. SIMON, Bounds in the Yukawa<sub>2</sub> quantum field theory: upper bound on the pressure, Hamiltonian bound and linear lower bound, Commun. Math. Phys., 45 (1975), pp. 99–114.
- [32] B. SIMON, Trace ideals and their applications, vol. 35 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1979.
- [33] R. S. STRICHARTZ, Restrictions of Fourier transforms to quadratic surfaces and decay of solutions of wave equations, Duke Math. J., 44 (1977), pp. 705–714.
- [34] T. TAO, Nonlinear dispersive equations, vol. 106 of CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC, 2006. Local and global analysis.
- [35] S. I. VALDIMARSSON, A multilinear generalisation of the Hilbert transform and fractional integration, Rev. Mat. Iberoam., 28 (2012), pp. 25–55.
- [36] K. YAJIMA, Existence of solutions for Schrödinger evolution equations, Comm. Math. Phys., 110 (1987), pp. 415–426.
- [37] \_\_\_\_\_, Schrödinger evolution equations with magnetic fields, J. Analyse Math., 56 (1991), pp. 29–76.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, CALTECH, PASADENA, CA 91125, USA *E-mail address:* rlfrank@caltech.edu

CNRS & Université de Cergy-Pontoise, Mathematics Department (UMR 8088), F-95000 Cergy-Pontoise, France

*E-mail address*: mathieu.lewin@math.cnrs.fr

DEPARTMENTS OF MATHEMATICS AND PHYSICS, PRINCETON UNIVERSITY, JADWIN HALL, WASHINGTON ROAD, PRINCETON, NJ 08544, USA *E-mail address*: lieb@princeton.edu

Institute of Science and Technology Austria, Am Campus 1, 3400 Klosterneuburg, Austria

*E-mail address*: robert.seiringer@ist.ac.at